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#39, PHOTO 6

NAME: Isaac Applewhite House DATE: 1852; ca. 1890
ADDRESS: Church Street BLOCK/LOT: See Verbal Boundary
Description

PRESENT OWNER: Mr. and Mrs. J. S. Spencer
P.0. Box 11 ACREAGE: 1.5
Chappell Hill, Texas 77426

ORIGINAL USE: Residence CURRENT USE: Residence

U.S.G.S. QUANDRANGLE: 7.5' Chappell Hill, Tx U.T.M. REFERENCE: 14/764690/3337690

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION:
Physical Condition: Excellent
Dates of Alterations: 1949 - 1958; 1959; 1963; 1980

The Applewhite House is one and one-half stories high and was constructed in 1852
of native cedar. Wooden beams used throughout the house are hand hewn and pegged. The
plan consists of a central hall with two rooms on each side. The upstairs floor plan
includes a wide central hall and one large bedroom on each side. A particularly note-
worthy feature of the exterior is the decorative, late-19th-century, Eastlake-influenced
front gallery which extends the entire length of the structure. This porch is supported
by elaborate turned posts with knobs and modified scroll brackets. Spindles with movable
and hand-made spool-like knobs along the porch frieze enhance the gracefulness of the
porch. An additional decorative feature of the exterior is the carved vergeboard on the
north end of the house.

An oversized dormer with a gable roof and pair of 4/4 windows dominates the roofline
on the east front. A brick end-chimney, rising from the gable-roof on the south side of
the house, served both the upstairs and downstairs rooms. An additional fireplace is
located on the east kitchen wall. Composition shingles cover the roof's original cedar
shingles.

Some original 9/6 and 6/6 light, double-hung, sash-type windows have been replaced
over the years by similar custom-made modern windows where necessary. Several operable
wooden shutters still exist. The paneled entrance contains an early screen door and is
surrounded by sidelights and a transom. The simple design of the interior is reflected
in the absense of trim around doors or windows, and by the original floors of thick cedar.
Several rooms were paneled with modern plywood and beaded wainscoting in 1963.

The original section of the house, constructed in the 1850s, exhibited Greek Revival
influence. A kitchen was originally detached from the main house, yet easily reached by
by a covered walkway. Later a porch was built across the back of the house and a room
and porch constructed, thereby enclosing the space between the kitchen and house. Between
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1889 and 1896, the south side of the house burned. The flooring in the southern rooms,
which was rebuilt after the fire, still shows evidence of the devastation. It is probable
that the six-foot gallery off the back of the house and the gingerbread front gallery

were added during this period.

The next major structural change was made between 1949 and 1958. The wide interior
hallway was narrowed to accomodate closets, which were added to the two downstairs south
rooms. In 1949 a garage was built near the north end of the kitchen. At this time, also,
the rear porch was enclosed for living space, and rear storage rooms were removed. The
1949 garage was constructed of wood from these two rooms. A doorway connecting this rear
wing with the main house was replaced by a window. Further modifications to the house
were executed by the Spencers, who purchased the property in 1958. They installed an
upstairs bathroom at the west end of the hallway and extended the original line of the
smaller roof dormer at the rear twenty feet. In 1980 the owners also added a rear screened
porch. These changes are nonetheless relatively inconspicuous, and the house is in .excel-
lent condition and retains its historic integrity.

Outbuildings on the property include a small board-and-batten chicken house built
in the 1940s and two modern portable buildings. A cistern is also located at the north-
west corner of the house, adjacent to the modern kitchen. A single-story wood-frame
structure and a wooden water tank and windmill originally were located on the rear of the
property.

SIGNIFICANCE:
Period: 1800-1899

Areas of Significance: Architecture, religion

Architecturally, the Applewhite House is significant as a fine example of local,
eclectic, residential design in the second half of the 19th century, and represents the
evolution of preferences for architectural styles during this period. Architecturally
unique in the Chappell Hill vicinity, this house, with its symmetrical central hall plan,
molded cornice with returns, and central entrance with sidelights and transoms, reflects
a transition from a vernacular form of the Greek Revival to a modified Victorian style.
The front porch trim reflects Eastlake influences. Although several alterations have
been made throughout the years to the structure's interior and exterior, the house re-
tains its architectural integrity and historic fabric. The property features several
characteristics of its turn-of-the-century landscaping, including an informally land-
scaped lawn around the house, a garden, and several large pecan trees.

Historic archeological potential exists for the property as regards establishing
the presence and utilization of early outbuildings. Fragments of historic debris in-
cluding china and metal have been found on the property by the current owner. The ori-
ginal cistern, which is still intact but filled in, could possibly yield important
historical information.
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Constructed just three years after the sale of lots began in Chappell Hill in 1849,
this structure is one of the earliest surviving houses in the historic residential sec-
tion. Because of its close proximity to the Chappell Hill Female College and its asso-
ciation with early Methodist ministers, the Applewhite House played an important role
in the early educational history of the town, functioning as a gathering place for re-
ceptions and other social events connected with the college.

The house is particularly significant for its association with several early settlers
and religious leaders of the community; they include Isaac Applewhite, Allen Lewis of
Galveston, and Robert Alexander. Isaac Applewhite was a minister, lawyer, and teacher
whose hobby was carpentry. He utilized native cedar in the construction of his one-and-
a-half-story dwelling known early as the "House of Cedar", this timber being readily
available prior to the Civil War. Reverend Applewhite, who was widely known and respected
as a Methodist-Episcopal lay leader and affiliate of Rutersville College, the first
Methodist school in Texas, moved to Chappell Hill from Osyka, Mississippi, in 1852. It
is known that Applewhite also owned and operated with his neighbor, F. J. Cooke, a steam
sawmill and gristmill in Washington County from 1855 until 1857, when he released his
share to Cooke. Applewhite was also an important force in influencing the citizens of
Chappell Hill and Washington County to support plans for the construction of its first
railroad.

On December 20, 1862, ownership of the house passed to Allen Lewis, who was prominent
in the cotton industry in Galveston. Lewis was also a dedicated Methodist, who had taken
a very active part in building the new Methodist church in Galveston. In 1877 the house
was sold to Robert Alexander, one of the first Methodist missionaries to reach Texas.
Reverend Alexander succeeded Dr. Martin Ruter as the minister responsible for the esta-
blishment of the Methodist-Episcopal Church in Texas. Alexander and his father-in-law,
Reverend David Ayers, were friends of William B. Travis, who sometimes personally assisted
the Methodist missionaries in their camp meetings.

Dr. Paul M. Raysor, the son of Peter A. Raysor, who was an important influence in
the early civic and industrial development of Chappell Hill, purchased the house in 1889.
It was probably during his ownership that the south end of the residence burned and the
Eastlake front porch was added. Mr. and Mrs. J. S. Spencer of Houston purchased the
house in 1958 as a weekend home. They moved to Chappell Hill permanently in 1964.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

A lot of parcel of land in Chappell Hill, Washington County, Texas. being all of
Acres Lot #8 and the north half of Acres Lot #10 and described as beginning at the cor-
ner of Chestnut and Church streets; thence south along the east line of Church Street
241.5 feet; thence east 148.5 feet; thence south 30 feet; thence east 137.5 feet;
thence north 271.5 feet to Chestnut Street; thence west along the south line of Chestnut
Street 274.7 feet to the place of beginning, containing 1% acres.
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